



Constitution and Bylaws

Updated: May 30, 2006

Updated: May 21, 2009

Updated: May 26, 2015

Constitution

Name

The name of the Corporation shall be: Sport P.E.I. Inc. The operating name shall be "Sport PEI".

Purposes and objects

The objects and purposes of the Corporation are as follows:

- a) To promote sports in the Province of Prince Edward Island, to assist member associations in every possible way dealing with or pertaining to sports in every particular nature.
- b) To promote, advance and encourage the playing of sports in the Province of Prince Edward Island.
- c) To promote and develop co-operation between local, provincial and federal governments, and between school boards, municipal councils, recreation commissions and the private sector in providing and sharing facilities that meet standards acceptable to the participating member organizations.
- d) To receive, accept, hold or to possess and hold in custody all gifts, offerings, bequeathments, or any other type of help or assistance which may be provided by anyone at any time for the purpose of carrying out the objectives of the corporation according to its bylaws.
- e) To print, publish, buy or sell and otherwise distribute books, pamphlets and manuals dealing with the promotion and development of sports.
- f) To build a representative membership of duly constituted provincial amateur sport governing bodies to promote interest in sport in Prince Edward Island.
- g) To assist in the organization, development and implementation of amateur sports programs by autonomous member bodies.
- h) To communicate information to member organizations regarding the source and accessibility of financial assistance.
- i) To provide a forum for the exchange of ideas and program information, and to consider and discuss problems of mutual concern to each of these member bodies.
- j) To encourage the development of leadership within each of the member organizations.
- k) To serve as an avenue of advice and guidance to and from the Government in areas relative to sport.
- l) To provide an administrative centre that facilitates communication between and within member organizations throughout the Province and provides secretarial and administrative services and programs for its members.
- m) To purchase, receive, hold, own, sell, assign, transfer and otherwise to acquire or dispose of and to mortgage and pledge bonds, mortgages, debentures, notes, shares or capital stock and other securities,

obligations, contracts and evidences of indebtedness of any company, corporation or association, or of any government, state, municipality or body politic; to receive, collect and dispose of interest, dividends and income upon, or and from any of the bonds, mortgages, debentures, notes, shares of capital stock, securities, obligations, contracts, evidences of indebtedness and other property any and all the rights, powers and privileges of individual ownership thereof, including the right to vote thereon.

- n) To acquire, purchase, lease, take in exchange, or otherwise acquire lands or interest therein, and to develop, promote, organize, manage and act as financial consultant in the development of the said lands whether on an industrial, recreational or residential basis.
- o) To engender better communication and public relations among the member organizations and the general public.
- p) To act as a liaison with municipal, provincial and federal governments and government agencies and to bring before such government and government agencies such recommendations as are approved by the Corporation.
- q) In connection with the foregoing to have all the rights, powers, franchises and privileges that a private individual might or could possess or enjoy.

Head Office

The Head Office of the Corporation may be located at such place within the Province of Prince Edward Island as may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.

Seal of the Corporation

The Board of Directors shall provide a seal for the Corporation which shall be kept at the Head Office of the Corporation.

Non-Profit Organization

The Association will be not-for-profit and without share capital, and as well, the Association shall be carried on without pecuniary gain to its members and that any profits of the Association shall be used in promoting its objects.

Remuneration

Officers and Directors shall not receive remuneration.

Officers and Directors shall be reimbursed travel and accommodation and other related expenses while representing Sport PEI on official business. The membership may also grant an honorarium upon approval by the Board/Membership.

Amendments to the Constitution

Amendments, additions or alterations to the constitution must occur at the Annual General Meeting or a special general meeting called for that purpose. Members must receive at least 21 days notice of the proposed

change and at least 2/3's of the members who vote at the meeting must approve the change.

Dissolution

In the event of dissolution or the winding up of Sport PEI, the procedure for dissolution shall be as provided for in the bylaws.

Bylaws

Article 1 Membership

1.1.1 Active - Provincial Sport Organization:

- a) Provincial Sport Organization (PSO) refers to a single provincial governing body responsible of all aspects of a designated sport activity.
- b) These organizations govern the circumstances of a particular sport activity and are the Provincial Authority (Provincial Sport Organization) recognized by their National Sport Governing Body (NSO) or Multi-Sport Organization (MSO).
- c) PSOs are expected to be the governing body for their sport, for both genders, all age groups and levels, and all disciplines of the sport, including disciplines and events for athletes with a disability. Exceptions may include established disciplines in PEI or Canada that have developed separately through historic precedence. If more than one organization applies as the PSO in the same sport, a determination of which sport is the PSO shall be made by the Board.

1.1.2 Active - Sport Governing Body

- a) Sport Governing Body (SGB) refers to a single provincial governing body responsible of all aspects of a designated sport activity.
- b) A SGB governs the circumstances of a particular sport activity in the Province of Prince Edward Island that is recognized by a national sport governing body that has at least four (4) other provinces/territories or multi-sport organizations, but which is not recognized by Sport Canada as a NSO or MSO.
- c) SGBs are expected to be the governing body for their sport, for both genders, all age groups and levels, and all disciplines of the sport, including disciplines and events for athletes with a disability. Exceptions may include established disciplines in PEI or Canada that have developed separately through historic precedence. If more than one organization applies as the SGB in the same sport, a determination of which sport is the SGB shall be made by the Board.

1.1.3 **Affiliate Members** refer to those publicly recognized organizations which are actively involved in coordinating and/or regulating sport opportunities for Islanders, but are not a PSO or SGB.

1.1.4 **Associate Members** refer to those organizations which wish to contribute to or be associated with amateur sport but do not directly conduct or regulate sport activities, and are not recognized in the PSO, SGB or Affiliate categories.

1.1.5 **Alumni Membership** is open to former Sport PEI board members or former PSO board members who support the mission statement and values of Sport PEI.

1.1.6 **Honourary Membership** shall be granted to those individuals, organizations or businesses for their long standing contributions to Sport PEI as nominated and unanimously approved by the Board of Directors.

1.2 Membership Criteria for PSOs

The following criteria shall apply for the PSOs to meet and maintain membership status:

- 1.2.1 Activity of the organization must substantially fulfill the Sport Canada definition of sport.
- 1.2.2 The organization must be a member or be affiliated with a NSO or MSO that is recognized by Sport Canada as the governing body for its sport/discipline.
- 1.2.3 Must be incorporated under the Prince Edward Island *Companies Act* as a not-for-profit organization (Part II Company) with bylaws providing for membership.
- 1.2.4 Must be a volunteer-based, amateur Provincial governing body, democratically governed by a duly elected Board of Directors.
- 1.2.5 Must have a mission statement and values in keeping with those of Sport PEI Inc.
- 1.2.6 Must have been active for at least one (1) year immediately preceding the date of membership application.
- 1.2.7 Must carry insurance which adequately protects the volunteers, employees and the organization in the following areas and amounts:
 - a) Comprehensive liability - third party coverage in the amount of at least two million dollars;
 - b) Participant's liability - second party coverage in the amount of at least two million dollars;
 - c) Directors and officers liability including wrongful dismissal in the amount of at least two million dollars.
- 1.2.8 PSO Membership is open to only one recognized provincial sport organizations per sport. Organizations requesting membership whose sport is similar to that of any existing members will be referred to the existing member organization. Existing members and applicants shall co-operate in all respects with the aim and objective of consolidating like sporting activities.
- 1.2.9 Must commit to the principle of technically and ethically sound coaching education and conduct and the NSO must be participating in the National Coaching Certification Program, in a minimum of one of the three coaching streams.
- 1.2.10 All PSOs shall be required to demonstrate that they have an officiating pathway with certified officials holding qualifications under a national or provincially recognized official's certification program.
- 1.2.11 All PSOs shall attend the Sport PEI Annual General Meeting and all Special General Meetings. Any PSO, who without reasonable cause, fails to attend the Annual General Meeting and/or a Special General Meeting shall be placed on one year's probation.
- 1.2.12 PSO membership fees for the current year shall be paid dues by June 1 of each year.
- 1.2.13 PSOs must hold Annual General Meetings at which time a board/executive is elected. Sport PEI must be notified at least 14 days in advance of the date of the PSO's Annual General Meeting. The PSO must provide copies of all reports (including financial), and provide a list of names and contact information of their Board, to Sport PEI following its Annual General Meeting.
- 1.2.14 Each PSO must have the following polices:
 - a) Harassment policy
 - b) Dispute Resolution Policy
 - c) Such other policies as prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

1.3 Criteria for Sport Governing Body (SGB)

The following criteria shall apply for these SGB to meet and maintain membership status:

- 1.3.1 Activity of the body must substantially fulfill the Sport Canada definition of sport.
- 1.3.2 SGB must be a member or be affiliated with a national sport governing body that has at least (4) other provinces/territories affiliated or as members.
- 1.3.3 SGB's mandate is for the promotion, development, implementation and governance of the sport for all Islanders.
- 1.3.4 Must be incorporated under the Prince Edward Island *Companies Act* as a not-for-profit organization (Part II Company) with bylaws providing for membership.
- 1.3.5 Must be a volunteer-based, amateur governing body, democratically governed by a duly elected Board of Directors.
- 1.3.6 Must have a mission statement and values in keeping with those of Sport PEI Inc.
- 1.3.7 Must have been active for at least one (1) year immediately preceding the date of membership application.
- 1.3.8 Must carry insurance which adequately protects the volunteers, employees and the organization in the following areas and amounts:
 - a) Comprehensive liability - third party coverage in the amount of at least two million dollars;
 - b) Participant's liability - second party coverage in the amount of at least two million dollars;
 - c) Directors and officers liability including wrongful dismissal in the amount of at least two million dollars.
- 1.3.9 SGB membership is open to only one recognized SGB per sport/discipline. Organizations requesting membership whose sport is similar to that of any existing members will be referred to the existing member organization. Existing members and applicants shall co-operate in all respects with the aim and objective of consolidating like sporting activities.
- 1.3.10 Must commit to the principle of technically and ethically sound coaching education and conduct and must be participating in a training/certification program.
- 1.3.11 SGBs shall be required to demonstrate that they have an officiating pathway with certified officials holding qualifications under a national or provincially recognized official's certification program.
- 1.3.12 All SGBs shall attend the Sport PEI Annual General Meeting and all Special General Meetings. Any SGB, who without reasonable cause, fails to attend the Annual General Meeting and/or Special General Meeting shall be placed on one year's probation.
- 1.3.13 SGB fees for the current year must have paid the current year by June 1.
- 1.3.14 SGBs must hold Annual General Meetings at which time a board/executive is elected. Sport PEI must be notified at least 14 days in advance of the date of the SGB's Annual General Meeting. The SGB must provide copies of all reports (including financial), and provide a list of names and contact information of

their Board, to Sport PEI following the AGM.

1.3.15 Must have the following policies:

- a) Harassment policy;
- b) Dispute Resolution policy;
- c) Such other policies as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

1.4 Criteria for Affiliate Members

The following criteria shall apply to meet and maintain Affiliate Membership status:

- 1.4.1 Must be incorporated under the Prince Edward Island Companies Act as a not-for-profit organization (Part II Company) or be an association affiliated with an educational institution.
- 1.4.2 Must have been active for at least one (1) year immediately preceding the date of membership application.
- 1.4.3 Members must attend the Sport PEI Annual General Meeting. Any member, who without reasonable cause prior to the Affiliate's Annual General Meeting, fails to attend the Annual General Meeting will be placed on one year probation.
- 1.4.4 Must have paid the current year's dues by June 1st.

1.5 Criteria for Associate Members

- 1.5.1 Any legally registered association that is not recognized or eligible in the active or affiliate membership category, but who contributes to amateur sport.
- 1.5.2 Must have paid the current year's dues by June 1st.

1.6 Alumni Membership

- 1.6.1 Alumni members have access to all promotions, functions and publications. Alumni members are non-voting.

1.7 Honourary Membership

- 1.7.1 Honourary members are non-voting.

1.8 Maintaining Membership

- 1.8.1 In addition to those criteria set forth in this Bylaw and in order to maintain membership status with Sport PEI, all members must adhere to the following requirements:
 - a) Provide a copy of the corporate member's updated constitution and bylaws (with any amendments)

every 2 years.

- b) Notify Sport PEI of the date and location of the corporate member's annual general meeting, at least 14 days prior. As well, provide all Annual General Meeting reports, including the annual financial statement, for your organization within 14 days of the Annual General Meeting.
- c) Provide payment of annual membership fee on or before June 1 in every year.
- d) Attend all general meetings of the membership, e.g. Annual General meeting, Special Meeting.
- e) Provide proof of Accident and Liability insurance.
- f) Provide an updated list of the member organization's board members and their contact information (e.g. mailing address, email and phone number) within 14 days of the member's Annual General Meeting.
- g) Provide a copy of the member organization's financial statements

1.9 Voting Rights

The following organizations shall have voting rights at special, annual or general meetings:

- 1.09.1 Each PSO shall have two (2) votes.
- 1.09.2 Each SGB shall have one (1) vote.
- 1.09.3 Each Affiliate shall have one (1) vote.
- 1.09.4 Each Associate shall have one (1) vote.

1.10 Membership Fees

- 1.10.1 The membership for PSOs, SGBs, Affiliate and Associate members shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors, subject to approval by the membership at the Annual General or Special Meeting.
- 1.10.2 Membership fees shall be paid on or before June 1 of each current year, and in the case of a new member, the fee shall be paid at the time of the application for membership.

1.11 How Members May Withdraw

- 1.11.1 Any member may terminate its membership by giving written notice to the Secretary of Sport PEI.
- 1.11.2 Withdrawal of membership will be effective upon receipt of the written notice.
- 1.11.3 No refund of annual fees will be made to a member upon the cessation of membership.

1.11.4 Although a member ceases to be a member, the member is liable for any debts owing to Sport PEI at the date of ceasing to be a member.

1.12 How Members are Removed or Sanctioned

1.12.1 Notwithstanding those bylaws relating to meetings and voting procedures as herein provided, Sport PEI may terminate the membership of any member for good and sufficient reason with a special resolution approved by a two-thirds majority of the Board present at a special board meeting called for that purpose.

1.12.2 The Board, at a special board meeting called for that purpose, may suspend a member's membership for an initial period of not more than three (3) months, for one or more of the following reasons:

- a) if the member has failed to abide by the Bylaws, codes or policies of Sport PEI;
- b) if the member has disrupted meetings or functions of Sport PEI;
- c) if the member has done or failed to do anything judged to be harmful to Sport PEI; or
- d) if the member has failed to fulfill the requirements of membership.

1.12.3 The Board has the power to assign to a member further sanctions, including without limitation additional suspensions and/or periods of probation as determined by the Board in its discretion.

1.13 Member in Good Standing

1.13.1 Any member in good standing is entitled to:

- (a) receive notice of general meetings of the corporation;
- (b) attend any general meeting of the corporation;
- (c) speak at any general meeting of the corporation;
- (d) exercise other rights and privileges given to Members in these bylaws.

1.13.2. A member is in good standing when:

- (a) the member has paid membership fees or other required fees to the Corporation; and
- (b) the member is not suspended as a member as provided under Bylaw 1.6.2.

Article 2: Meetings

2.1 General

2.1.1 The President shall preside as Chairperson at general meetings of the Corporation. In the absence of the President, the Vice-President shall preside as Chairperson. In the absence of both, the directors shall appoint a chairperson from among the board.

2.2 Annual General Meetings

2.2.1 The Corporation shall hold its Annual General Meeting on or before the 31st day of May in each year and may hold a Semi-Annual Meeting on or before the 31st day of December in each year and at such time and place as may be determined by the Board of Directors.

2.2.2 Notice of every Annual General Meeting or Semi-Annual Meeting shall be mailed to each member at least twenty-one (21) days prior to the date of the meeting and shall outline briefly the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is being called.

2.2.3 Agenda for the Meeting

- (a) Roll Call, Credentials;
- (b) Minutes of Previous Meeting;
- (c) Business Arising from the Minutes;
- (d) Reports;
- (e) Consideration of Amendments;
- (f) Election of Officers and Directors;
- (g) Appointment of auditors;
- (h) New Business;
- (i) Adjournment

2.3 Special General Meetings

2.3.1. Special General Meetings of the Corporation may be called at any time:

- a) by the President or in his absence by the Vice-President, or
- b) by the Secretary upon written request of ten Full members of the Corporation.

The request must state the reason for the special general meeting and the motion intended to be submitted.

2.3.2 Notice of every Special General Meeting shall be mailed to each member at least twenty-one (21) days prior to the date of the meeting and shall outline briefly the place, date, time and purpose or purposes for which the meeting is being called.

2.3.3. Only the matter set out in the notice for the special general meeting is considered at the special general meeting.

2.3.4. Any Special General Meeting has the same method of voting and the same quorum requirements as the Annual General Meeting.

2.4 Quorum

2.4.1 At all Annual General Meetings, Semi/Annual Meeting and Special General Meetings of Sport PEI one third of the members which have voting rights shall be considered a quorum. For purposes of determining a quorum, those members which have more than one vote shall be considered as one member.

2.4.2 At all Annual General Meetings, Semi-Annual Meetings or Special General Meetings, a member shall be represented by no more than two individuals.

2.4.3 The Board of Directors shall have the power to invite such persons as they may deem advisable to attend meetings as observers and/or consultants.

Article 3: Voting

- 3.1.1 Each voting member shall designate its voting delegate(s) on its behalf to attend Annual General, or Special General Meetings of Sport PEI.
- 3.1.2 Such voting representative(s) must be duly accredited by their member prior to his/her acceptance as a voting delegate.
- 3.1.3 No proxy votes shall be accepted at any meeting of the membership.
- 3.1.4 Each accredited voting delegate shall only represent one member.
- 3.1.5 All members of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to one vote at any Annual General, or Special General Meeting of the Corporation.
- 3.1.6 Except as hereinbefore provided in regard to termination of membership, any resolution or motion at any meeting shall be carried by a simple majority of the members present voting in favour of the resolution or motion.
- 3.1.7 The Chairperson of the meeting shall not vote, except in the case of a tie vote, at which time he/she shall have the deciding vote.
- 3.1.8 At any meeting of the Corporation, unless a poll is requested by at least five members, the declaration by the Chairperson that a resolution or motion has been carried, and an entry made to that effect in the Minute Book or other record of the proceedings of the Corporation shall be sufficient evidence of the fact, without proof of the manner or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against such resolution or motion.
- 3.1.9 Probationary members shall not be eligible to vote on Sport PEI business.

Article 4: Governance

4.1 Board Composition

- 4.1.1 The Board of Directors shall consist of the officers and six Directors, who shall be elected at the Annual General Meeting by the voting members of the Corporation.
- 4.1.2 The officers of the Corporation shall be the President, the Vice-President, the Secretary and the Treasurer and a Past President.
- 4.1.3 Of the six elected directors, not being officers, three of the directors shall individually represent Kings, Queens or Prince County and shall each reside in the county which the individual represents.

4.2 Board Powers

- 4.2.1 The Board of Directors shall have full power to conduct all business on behalf of the Corporation.
- 4.2.2 The Board may make policies, procedures and rules for managing the affairs of the Corporation.
- 4.2.3 The Board may make policies, procedures and rules relating to the discipline of members, and shall have the authority to discipline members accordingly.
- 4.2.4 The Board may make policies, procedures and rules relating to the management of disputes within the Corporation and shall have the authority to deal with all disputes accordingly.
- 4.2.5 The Board may establish committees, appoint members of committees and delegate any of its powers, duties and functions to any committee;
- 4.2.6 The Board may appoint or employ such persons as it deems necessary to carry out work of the Corporation; and
- 4.2.7 The Board shall have the authority to interpret any word, term or phrase in this bylaw which is ambiguous, contradictory or unclear.

4.3 How Board is Elected

- 4.3.1 At the Annual General Meeting, the officers shall be elected by the members for a one year term and Directors shall be elected by the members to hold office for a two-year period.
- 4.3.2 The officers of the Corporation with the exception of the Past President shall be elected by the Full Members at the Annual General Meetings and shall serve until their successors are elected at the next Annual General Meeting.
- 4.3.3 An individual to be eligible for the office of President of the Corporation shall not be an officer of a sport governing body having jurisdiction within the Province of Prince Edward Island.

4.4 How a Director Resigns or is Removed

- 4.4.1 Any member of the Board of Directors shall cease to be a member of the Board thereof:
 - a) if he or she resigns in writing addressed to the Secretary; or
 - b) if the Board of Directors, by a two-thirds vote of its members present at a meeting duly convened for the purpose, shall resolve that such a member be removed.
- 4.4.2 If any member of the Board of Directors ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board shall appoint an interim director until such time as his/her appointment is ratified by a meeting of the membership.

4.5 How to Fill a Vacancy

- 4.5.1 If any officer of the Corporation resigns his position, the Board of Directors shall appoint an interim officer to fill the position until such time as his/her appointment is ratified by a meeting of the membership.

4.6 Meetings of the Board

- 4.6.1 A quorum for meetings of the Board of Directors shall be six board members.
- 4.6.2 The Board of Directors shall meet at the call of the President or at the written request of any six members of the Board.
- 4.6.3 The Board of Directors shall meet not less than three times each year and at such other times and places as it may deem necessary. Due notice of meetings shall be given and the notice shall indicate the purpose of the meeting.

4.7 Voting

- 4.7.1 Each member of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to one vote. However, the President shall only vote in the event of a tie.

Written Resolution of Board

- 4.7.2 The Board of Directors may agree to a resolution in any transmissible form. This resolution is as valid as one passed at a meeting of the Board of Directors. It is not necessary to give notice or to call a board meeting. The date on the resolution is the date it is passed.

4.8 Committees of the Board

- 4.8.1 The Board of Directors may appoint such Committees as they deem desirable in the interests of the Corporation.
- 4.8.2 The Board of Directors shall determine the duties of each committee and shall decide questions of jurisdiction, and shall, if it is so desired, direct the action of any committee on any matter.

4.9 Duties of Officers

- 4.9.1 The President shall preside at meetings of the Corporation and of the Board of Directors and shall provide leadership in executing the basic and specific objectives of the Corporation as outlined in this constitution and these bylaws. The President shall also be required to prepare an Annual Report which shall be submitted at the Annual General Meeting of the Corporation.
- 4.9.2 The Vice-President shall preside at meetings in the absence of the President.
- 4.9.3 The Secretary shall ensure that the staff of the Corporation give notice of all meetings of the Corporation to

members entitled thereto. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and all Annual General, Semi-Annual and Special General Meetings of the Corporation, and shall keep a correct register of the members of the Corporation, and shall ensure that all other duties usually performed by a Secretary are carried out by the staff of the Corporation.

4.9.4 The Treasurer shall be responsible to ensure that designated staff of the Corporation utilize generally acceptable accounting principles to perform the following: have custody of all funds of the Corporation; make disbursements as ordered by the Board of Directors; keep the accounts of the Corporation; receive all funds belonging to the Corporation and keep the same deposited in a chartered bank; collect the fees payable by members and other moneys and revenues accruing to the Corporation; and otherwise perform all duties pertaining to the office of a Treasurer. The Treasurer shall submit his/her report to the Annual General Meeting together with the report of the auditor of the Corporation. He/she shall render an accounting of all financial transactions at all meetings of the membership, and meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall exhibit the books of the Corporation when called upon to do so. All books and papers belonging to the Corporation shall be housed at the Head Office of the Corporation.

4.10 Executive Director

4.10.1 The Executive Director shall act as liaison between Sport PEI and the Provincial Government and shall perform such duties as are defined on the advice of the Board of Directors of Sport PEI. He/she shall serve as an ex officio member of the Board of Directors.

4.10.2 The Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution confer upon the Executive Director for the time being all or such of the powers exercisable under these presents by the Board of Directors as they think fit, and may confer such powers for such time to be exercised for such objects and purposes and upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as they think expedient and they may either confer such powers either collateral with or to the exclusion of and in that behalf and may from time to time, revoke, withdraw, alter, or vary all or any of such powers.

4.11 Indemnification of Directors

4.11.1 The members of the Board shall not be personally liable for any mistake of judgment, negligence or any acts of omissions made in good faith, except for their own willful malfeasance, misfeasance, misconduct or bad faith.

4.11.2 The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the members of the Board from all expenses or liability arising out of their position as a member of the Board.

4.11.3 The Corporation shall obtain the type of insurance commonly known as "Directors and Officers Liability Coverage" in order to fund this indemnity obligation and also to encourage service on the Board.

Article 5: Finance and Management

5.1 Fiscal Year

5.1.1 The fiscal year of the Corporation is April 1 to March 31 of each year.

5.2 Auditors

- 5.2.1 The Board of Directors shall appoint an auditor each and every year who will act during the fiscal year of the Corporation. The fiscal year shall end on the 31st day of March of each and every year unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.
- 5.2.2 A copy of the financial statement shall be provided to each member of the Corporation not later than 60 days after the fiscal year end of the Corporation.
- 5.2.3 All dues and assessment of members of the Corporation other than membership fees shall be due on or before the 31st day in March in each year in an amount as determined by the Board of Directors.

5.3 Signing Authority and Execution of Contracts

- 5.3.1 All cheques must be signed by any two of the following officers: President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer or any other position designated by the Board.
- 5.3.2 The Board of Directors on behalf of the Corporation shall have the authority to enter into any arrangements with any Governmental authority, municipality, local or otherwise that may seem conducive to the corporation's objects, or any of them, and to obtain from any such Governmental authority, any rights, privileges, concessions which the corporation may think it desirable to obtain, and to carry out, exercise and comply with any such arrangements.

5.4 Borrowing Powers

- 5.4.1 The Board of Directors on behalf of the Corporation shall have the authority to:
 - a) To apply for, secure acquire by grant, legislative enactment, carry out and enjoy any charter, license, power, authority, franchise, concession, right or privilege, which any Government or authority of any company or other public body may be empowered to grant, and to pay for, aid in and contribute toward carrying same into effect.
 - b) To borrow money on credit of the corporation and to limit and increase the amount borrowed, to issue bonds, debentures or other securities of the corporation and pledge or sell the same for such sums at such prices as may be deemed expedient; to mortgage or pledge the common properties and facilities, including both the realty and the personalty, or both, to secure any bonds or debentures, any other securities, and any money borrowed for the purposes of the corporation.

Article 6: Dissolution

- 6.1.1 It is specifically provided that in the event of dissolution or the winding up of the corporation all its remaining assets after payment of its liabilities shall be distributed to one or more recognized non-profit organizations in Canada.

Article 7: Amendments

- 7.1.1 These bylaws may be amended by resolution at any meeting of the membership provided that a copy of any proposed amendment has been provided in any transmissible form to each member at least twenty-one (21) days prior to the date of the meeting at which the proposed amendment will be introduced.
- 7.1.2 All references herein to either the “Corporation” or “Sport PEI” refer to “Sport PEI Inc.”.